
   

 
 

 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL 

REGULATORY AND APPEALS COMMITTEE 

 
Date: Tuesday, 18 October 2016 
 
Time:  10.00 am 
 
Place: LB 31 - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, NG2 3NG 
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business 

 
Corporate Director for Resilience 
 
Governance Officer: Zena West   Direct Dial: 0115 876 4305 
 
 

   
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 

3  MINUTES  
Last meeting held on 6 September 2016 (for confirmation) 
 

3 - 6 

4  FLIRTZ, 26A FRIARY CHAMBERS, FRIAR LANE, NG1 6DQ - 
APPLICATION FOR RENEWAL AND VARIATION OF A SEX 
ESTABLISHMENT LICENCE  
Report of Director of Community Protection 
 
 

7 - 56 

IF YOU NEED ANY ADVICE ON DECLARING AN INTEREST IN ANY ITEM ON THE 
AGENDA, PLEASE CONTACT THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE, IF 

POSSIBLE BEFORE THE DAY OF THE MEETING  
 

CITIZENS ATTENDING MEETINGS ARE ASKED TO ARRIVE AT LEAST 15 MINUTES 
BEFORE THE START OF THE MEETING TO BE ISSUED WITH VISITOR BADGES 

 
CITIZENS ARE ADVISED THAT THIS MEETING MAY BE RECORDED BY MEMBERS 
OF THE PUBLIC. ANY RECORDING OR REPORTING ON THIS MEETING SHOULD 
TAKE PLACE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COUNCIL’S POLICY ON RECORDING 

AND REPORTING ON PUBLIC MEETINGS, WHICH IS AVAILABLE AT 
WWW.NOTTINGHAMCITY.GOV.UK. INDIVIDUALS INTENDING TO RECORD THE 

MEETING ARE ASKED TO NOTIFY THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE IN 
ADVANCE.

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL  
 
REGULATORY AND APPEALS COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held at Dining Room  - at the Council House on 6 
September 2016 from 10.05 - 11.09 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Brian Grocock (Chair) 
Councillor Liaqat Ali 
Councillor Jim Armstrong 
Councillor Rosemary Healy 
Councillor Mohammed Ibrahim 
Councillor Glyn Jenkins 
Councillor Sue Johnson 
Councillor Gul Nawaz Khan 
Councillor Dave Liversidge 
Councillor Sally Longford 
 
Councillor Toby Neal (substituting for 
Councillor David Smith) 
 

Councillor Carole McCulloch 
Councillor David Smith 
Councillor Michael Wildgust 
Councillor Linda Woodings 
 
 

 
  
 
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
 
Richard Antcliff 
Richard Bines 

- Chief Licensing, Trading Standards and ASB Officer 
- Solicitor 

Angela Rawson - Licensing Manager 
James Welbourn - Governance Officer 
 
15  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Councillor Carole McCulloch - work commitments 
Councillor David Smith  - unwell 
Councillor Mick Wildgust  - personal reasons 
Councillor Linda Woodings  - annual leave 
 
16  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
Councillor Liaqat Ali declared an interest due to his involvement with a private hire 
taxi firm. He then left the room for all remaining items. 
 
All Councillors present, with the exception of Councillor Toby Neal declared that they 
had received, and read a letter from Unite, in addition to receiving phone calls on the 
topic of today’s agenda.  The Chair also declared receipt of an e-mail from A to Z 
Licensing on behalf of a local taxi firm.  All Councillors declared they were 
nevertheless open minded to the debate and will make their minds up based on the 
evidence. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Regulatory and Appeals Committee - 6.09.16 

2 

 
 
17  MINUTES 

 
The minutes from the meeting dated 16 August 2016 were agreed as a true record 
and signed by the Chair. 
 
 
18  ADOPTION OF AN ENFORCEMENT, CONVICTIONS AND FITNESS 

POLICY 
 

The Committee considered a report of the Director of Community Protection. Angela 
Rawson, Licensing Manager provided an introduction to the item, highlighting that the 
proposed policy is not dissimilar to one previously adopted by the Committee which 
has operated successfully for a number of years. The current policy is updated with 
additional criteria that deal with beaches of Traffic Regulation Orders and  is 
designed to assist the decision making process when considering whether an 
applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a Combined Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Drivers Licence. It would help underpin the Council’s responsibility in 
relation to the safeguarding of the public by giving clear guidance to decision makers 
exercising delegated powers to determine applications.  
 
There was wide recognition amongst the Committee of the need to maintain high 
standards of probity amongst licenced drivers and ensure public safety. The updating 
of its policy was consistent with that objective and would promote public confidence 
in drivers. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 
1) approve the adoption of the Enforcement, Convictions and Fitness 

Policy; 
 
2) authorise the Licensing Manager to make minor amendments to the 

policy as reflected in legislation and/or changes in procedure following 
consultation with the Chair of the Regulatory & Appeals Committee. 

 
19  DRIVER IMPROVEMENT PENALTY POINT SCHEME 

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Community Protection. 
 
Angela Rawson, Licensing Manager provided an introduction to the item, highlighting 
that the purpose of the scheme is to increase the offer to citizens and visitors alike by 
raising the standards of service and increasing the awareness of drivers to their 
responsibilities and standards expected of them. 
 
The Committee noted 
 

 The scheme would maintain minimum standards and improve driver 
behaviour.  
 

Page 4



Regulatory and Appeals Committee - 6.09.16 

3 

 Consideration has been given to similar schemes, including ones at Reading 
and Leicester. 
 

 Points have been weighted so that the awarding of points is commensurate to 
the breach, with higher points values being attributed to those matters that 
pose a greater risk to public safety. The view of the taxi trade on the 
proportionality of the proposed points weighting were not known. 
 

 There are efforts to get local boroughs to agree the same set of standards.  
There are some advanced discussions with Gedling Borough Council, and 
some initial discussions with Rushcliffe Borough Council. 

 

Cllr Ibrahim proposed a final decision on the scheme be deferred for a period of 6-8 
weeks for the views of the trade to be obtained and considered.  

 
Members of Committee were concerned about the proportionality of the proposed 
scheme and to know the views taxi drivers and the taxi trade generally. Legal advice 
was sought on this matter and the options open to Committee including deferral. 
 
In view of the nature of the business the Committee were of the view that if members 
of the public were present during the discussion of this issue that there would be 
disclosure to the public of exempt information, namely information in respect of which 
a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. The 
committee were satisfied that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighed the public interest in disclosing the information, as it would enable a 
candid exchange, without fear of later disclosure to their prejudice of legal advice. 
  
 
20  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

 
RESOLVED to exclude the public from the meeting in accordance with section 
100a(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the basis that, having regard to 
all the circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information, as defined in 
Paragraph 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.  This was agreed by the Chair 
and Members to allow them to take legal advice. 
 
 
21  DRIVER IMPROVEMENT PENALTY SCHEME CONTINUED 

 
The meeting reconvened in public and the Chair announced that the committee were 
minded to consider the option to defer a final decision on the adoption of the DIPPS 
for a period of 6-8 weeks for the views of the trade on the proportionality of the points 
proposed per offence to be obtained and considered. This matter was put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED that the Introduction of a Driver Improvement Penalty Scheme 
(item 5) is to be deferred for six to eight weeks so that further discussions and 
input from the trade can take place on the issue of penalty points.  This allows 
time to discuss whether the points system is proportionate and correct. 
 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



WARD AFFECTED:  Bridge 
REGULATORY AND APPEALS COMMITTEE 
18 October 2016 
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR FOR COMMUNITY PROTECTION 
  
APPLICATION FOR RENEWAL AND VARIATION OF A SEX ESTABLISHMENT 
LICENCE - FLIRTZ, 26A FRIARY CHAMBERS, FRIAR LANE, NG1 6DQ 
 
1 SUMMARY 
 

1.1 This application is for: 
 

(a) the renewal of a sexual entertainment venue licence for Flirtz, 26a Friary 
Chambers, Friar Lane, Nottingham, NG1 6DQ. The application was 
received on 25 August 2016, a copy of which is attached to the report: 

 
(b) a variation to amend the operating hours to: 

 
Monday to Friday - 21.00hrs to 04.00hrs the following day; 
Saturday  - 12.00hrs to 04.00hrs the following day; 
Sunday   - 12.00hrs to 04.00hrs the following day. 

 
2 RECOMMENDATION 
 
IT IS RECOMMENDED that the Committee determine the renewal and variation 
application.  
 
3 BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 These premises have operated as a lap dancing establishment since October 
2005. The current operator took over the establishment in 2006 and the current 
licence is attached at Appendix 1. 

 
3.2 The renewal and variation application has been advertised in accordance with 

the legislative requirements in the Nottingham Post and exhibited on the 
premises. There has also been consultation with Ward Councillors (including 
those of the immediately adjacent wards), Police, the Chief Fire Officer, Social 
Services, Trading Standards, Planning, Programmes and Strategies and the 
Health and Safety Officer. A copy of the application is attached at Appendix 2. No 
objections have been received to the application. 

 
3.3 Flirtz is situated off Maid Marian Way. There are no schools or Shopping 

complexes or known residential properties in the vicinity of the premises. The 
premises are a lap dancing establishment and have no form of window or 
display. The premises have a double solid wooden door and the interior is not 
visible from outside the premises. A map showing the location of the premises is 
attached at Appendix 3. 

 
3.4 No compliance issues or complaints have been reported to the Licensing Section 

relating to these premises. 
 
4 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
None. 

 Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 
 
5 LEGAL AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1 Each application should be determined on its own merits. However, applications 

may only be refused on certain defined mandatory or discretionary grounds. 
Objections should only be afforded weight in so far as they relate to the statutory 
grounds of refusal. 

 
5.2 Mandatory grounds 
 
 The Council must refuse an application if: 
 

 The applicant is under 18 years if age; or 

 The applicant has been disqualified from holding a licence under Schedule 3 
paragraph (17)(3) of the Act following revocation of a previous licence; or 

 The person applying is not a resident of a European Economic Area State, or 
was not resident during the six month period preceding the date of the 
application; or 

 Where a company is the applicant it is not incorporated in a European 
Economic Area State; or 

 The applicant has been refused a licence for the same premises within the 
preceding 12 months unless the refusal has been reversed on appeal. 

 
5.3 Discretionary grounds 
 
 The Council may refuse an application for the grant or renewal of a licence if: 
 

 The applicant is unsuitable to hold the licence by reason of conviction of an 
offence or for any other reason: or 

 The business would be managed or carried on for the benefit of a person 
other than the applicant who would be refused the licence if they made the 
application themselves: or 

 The number of sex establishments, or sex establishments of a particular 
type, in the relevant locality at the time the application is made is equal to or 
exceeds the number the number which the Council considers appropriate for 
that locality: or 

 The grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate, having regard to: 
 
(i)  the character of the relevant locality, or 
(ii) the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put, or 
(iii) to the layout, character or condition of the premises to which the 

application applies. 
 

5.4 On 17 January 2011 this Committee adopted a Policy on Sex Establishments. 
 

The following sections of the Council’s Policy may be relevant: 
 

Section 4.4 - Suitability of the Applicant 
 

The applicant will be required to demonstrate that he/she is a suitable person to hold a 
licence. In determining suitability, the Council will normally take into account: 

 

 previous knowledge and experience of the applicant; 

 information relating to the operation of any existing/previous licence held by the 
applicant, including any licence held in any other local authority area; 

Page 8



 information about the applicant and their management of the premises received 
from objectors, Council Officers or the Police including any known criminal 
convictions or cautions  the applicant, or officers of any corporate applicants may 
have; 

 any other relevant information. 
 

The above factors are not an exhaustive list of considerations but are merely indicative 
of the types of factors which may be considered in dealing with an application. Similar 
considerations may also apply to persons whom it is alleged would benefit from the 
grant of the application but would be unsuitable to hold the licence themselves. In such 
cases the Council will also have regard to any evidence to show that the business 
would in fact be carried on for their benefit. 

 
Section 4.5 - Character of the Relevant Locality and use of other premises in the 
vicinity 

 
The Council will not grant or renew a licence for a Sex Establishment if, in the 
Council’s opinion, it would be inappropriate to do so with regard to the character of the 
Relevant Locality or if the appropriate number of Sex Establishments, (or of a 
particular type of Sex Establishment,) in that Locality would be exceeded. Whilst not 
intended to be an exclusive list, the Council will have particular regard to the following 
matters:-  

 

  The proximity of residential premises, including any sheltered housing and 
accommodation for vulnerable people; 

 The proximity of educational establishments; 

 The proximity of places of worship; 

 Access routes to and from schools, play areas, nurseries, children’s centres or 
similar premises in proximity to the premises; 

 The proximity to shopping centres; 

 The proximity to health facilities, community facilities/halls and public buildings such 
as swimming pools, leisure centres, public parks, youth centres/clubs, etc; 

 Any planned or proposed regeneration of the area; 

 Any relevant planning considerations such as whether the premises are in a 
Conservation Area or areas designated as primarily residential or prime retail 
frontage; 

 Any complaints or reports of nuisance,  disturbance, crime and /or disorder caused 
by or associated with the premises; 

 The proximity of other Sex Establishments 
 

Many of these issues will also be relevant when considering the uses to which other 
premises within the vicinity are put.  

 
Section 4.6 - Layout, Character and Condition  

 
The Council will not grant or renew a licence for a Sex Establishment if, in the 
Council’s opinion it would be inappropriate having regard to the layout, character and 
condition of the proposed Sex Establishment.  Whilst not intended to be an exclusive 
list, the Council will have particular regard to the following: 

 

 The type of activity to which the application relates; 

 The days and hours of operation of the Activity; 

 The layout and condition of the premises with particular concern for public safety, 
health and safety and the prevention of crime and disorder 

 Page 9



 
Section 4.8 – Conditions 

  
Any licence granted by the Council, shall be subject to the relevant standard 
conditions (unless the Council determines to the contrary,) and to any special 
conditions which the Council imposes. 

  
5.5  If the application is granted the licence will be subject to the standard conditions 

contained  within the Council’s Policy and which currently appear on the 
applicants licence at Appendix 1, unless the Committee agrees otherwise. In 
addition the Committee has the power to attach further conditions or restrictions 
as it feels appropriate and this includes the power to determine operating hours 
for the premises. The Committee will note that the current licence is already 
subject to various special conditions.  

 
6 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 
7 STRATEGIC AIMS 

 

 Creating a more attractive place to live, work and visit. 

 Making Nottingham a safer city – Working with communities and partners to 
 reduce crime and fear of crime and promoting community safety. 

 
8 CRIME AND DISORDER ACT IMPLICATIONS 

 
Close partnership working between the City Council, applicants, the local community and 
enforcement agencies is key to the successful delivery of the licensing regime. A key aim 
of the City Council is to reduce the risk of crime and disorder occurring in local 
neighbourhoods and the community in general. 
 
9  LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS OTHER THAN PUBLISHED WORKS OR THOSE 

DISCLOSING CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 

 Memo from Compliance Officer with photo of poster countersigned. 
 
10 PUBLISHED DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN COMPILING THIS REPORT 
 

 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 as amended by Section 27 
of the Policing and Crime Act 2009.  

 

 Sex Establishment Nottingham City Policy & Procedures. 
 
11 COPYRIGHT ACKNOWLEDGEMENT  

 
11.1 Nottingham City Council has adopted a Policy of making Agendas and Reports 

available for public inspection by electronic means. Where material from 
sources other than the City Council is produced either in whole or in part as part 
of a Committee Report, copyright of such material is acknowledged. 

 
11.2 Where the copyright holder of such material objects to the practice of its further 

publication for viewing by electronic means, they should contact the officer(s) 
named below in the first instance who will arrange for its removal. 

 
 Page 10



Andrew Errington 
Director for Community Protection 
Central Police Station 
Byron House 
Maid Marian way 
Nottingham 
NG1 6HS  
 
 
Contact Officer: Melanie Bird  
Tele number:  0115 876 1758 
email:    melanie.bird@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 
Legal comments: Ann Barrett 
Tele number:  0115 876 4411 
email:    ann.barrett@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  
 

 

Page 11

mailto:melanie.bird@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
mailto:ann.barrett@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 

 

 

 

              

                                                                                                                                             

                                      
                                                 Commercial & Operations 

                                                                                  Licensing 

                                                                                           Tamar Building 

                                                                                           Eastcroft Depot 

                                                                                         London Road 

                                                                                      Nottingham 

                                                                                 NG2 3AH 

                                                                                               Tel: 0115 915 6571 

 
     

 

 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1982 

AS AMENDED BY SECTION 27 OF THE POLICING AND CRIME ACT 2009  

 

LICENCE FOR SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT VENUE 

 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL hereby grant to Alljay Leisure Limited  
 

Of  Jenya, Stewton Gardens, Wood Lane, Louth, Lincolnshire LN11 8RY   
 

this licence to use the premises situate at Flirtz 

26A Friary Chambers  

Friar Lane 

Nottingham 

NG1 6DQ 

    
for the purpose of a Sexual Entertainment Venue 
 

This licence shall continue in force from 1 September 2015 until 31 August 2016 
 
or until sooner revoked and is granted subject to the conditions imposed by the City Council 
set out overleaf. 
 
 
Dated: 06

th
 October 2015 

 
 

Signed 

            Licensing Manager 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



 2 

 

 

 

 

 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

 

Monday – Friday     21:00 – 03:00 the following day 

Saturday and Sunday    12:00 – 03:00 the following day 

 

New Years Eve from the normal commencement hour through until 04:00 on 2 January 

 

Bank Holiday Fridays, Saturdays and Sundays from the normal commencement hour 

until 04:00 the following day. 
 

1. The designated premises supervisor, or person nominated by him in writing to be in 

charge that night shall ensure: 

(a) That an effective system exists for determining the number of 

persons on the premises at any one time. This system to be used at all 

times when the premises are open. 

(b) Staff tasked with monitoring and controlling access to the premises, and 

management staff, are to be aware of the occupancy figures for the entire 

premises and where appropriate specific areas within the premises. 

(c) Staff tasked with monitoring and controlling access to the premises will be 

instructed as to how the occupancy figure is to be monitored and the action 

to be taken when the maximum occupancy figure is reached. 

2. Unless agreed otherwise by the Police, there will be a minimum of three security 

industry Authority registered door supervisors present at the premises during hours 

of operation when live dancing is taking place, one of whom must be on the front 

entrance. 

3. A taxi calling service shall be available to customers at all times that the premises 

are open. Seating shall be made available inside the premises for customers who 

are waiting for a taxi. Door supervisors are to escort customers to taxis when 

practicable. 

4. All windows facing Friary Chambers shall be obscured to prevent observation of the 

interior of the premises when entertainment is taking place. 

5. The applicant company shall surrender this Sex Establishment licence if its lease is 

forfeited or surrendered or otherwise transferred to Ian Walker or Kieran Armstrong 

or any company in which either or both of them have an interest 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



 3 

 

 

STANDARD CONDITIONS 
1. Risk Assessments: 
1.1 Risk assessments will be carried out and documented to the reasonable satisfaction of 

Nottinghamshire Police and shall be lodged with them prior to this licence being used. The 
assessments shall cover following areas 

 The prevention of crime and disorder 

 safeguarding children;  

 areas designated for the performance of dance and entertainment; and, 

 levels of security at the premises, 
1.2 Any steps identified in such risk assessment as being required to negate or lessen risks, are 

to be carried out by no later than 30 days from the date Nottinghamshire Police indicates 
satisfaction with the said risk assessment, or such other date as Nottinghamshire Police may 
agree. 

1.3 The risk assessments are to be reviewed annually by the renewal date of this Licence. Copies 
of the reviewed documents shall be deposited with Nottinghamshire Police and shall clearly 
show the date of review, and any amendments made. All amendments must be agreed with 
the Police. 

1.4 A risk assessment shall be conducted for all events involving outside promoters and this will 
be supplied to the Police 14 days prior to the event. 

2. Age  
2.1 No person under the age of 21 years shall be allowed in the premises. 
2.2 A Challenge 21 scheme shall operate at the premises.  Any person who appears to be under 

21 years of age shall not be allowed entry unless they produce an acceptable form of 
identification (passport, driving licence or PASS accredited card.) 

3. Adult Entertainment. 
3.1 The Premises shall be maintained in accordance with the lay out plan attached to this 

Licence. Amendments to the layout of the premises and/or any structural or physical alteration 
must be approved by the Council by way of an application for variation of this licence unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Council. 

3.2 No change may be made from a Sexual Entertainment Venue to a Sex Shop or Sex Cinema, 
or vice versa. 

3.3 Admission to the premises shall be on payment of an admission fee. 
3.4 Full nudity is not permitted.  G-strings must be worn at all times and clothing shall not be 

transparent. 
3.5 Performers shall not be less than 21 years old.  
3.6 A record of the performer’s name, address, National Insurance number, photograph and date 

of birth will be retained in a bound register. The details relating to National Insurance Number; 
name; address; date of birth; and proof of identity provided, to be checked and verified by the 
Licence Holder against other forms of identity.  The Performers’ details as outlined above, 
shall be retained at the premises for at least 12 months and made immediately available to the 
Police and Authorised Officers of the Council upon request. 

3.7 The entertainment provided at the venue will not be visible from the street. 
3.8 Any person who can be observed from outside of the premises should be decently dressed 

and fully clothed. 
3.9 The entertainment provided at the venue shall only be given by performers who are 

exclusively engaged for that purpose. 
3.10 No performers shall be allowed to work at the premises if they are under the influence of 

intoxicating liquor or drugs. 
3.11 There shall be no inappropriate contact, or physical contact of a sexual nature between the 

performers and customers, before, during, or after the performance.  Customers may be led 
by the hand and escorted to an appropriate area for the dance and their hands may be placed 
on the seat or on their lap prior to the dance commencing. Payment may be made into the 
hand or a garter.  

3.12 Risk assessments shall be carried out in relation to areas which are to be used for the 
performance of dance and entertainment, in accordance with conditions 1.1 to 1.3. 

3.13 Private dancing in secluded areas is prohibited. All dance areas shall be well lit. 
3.14 The use of any types of marital aids, sex toys, animals or types of objects appearing to be 

such is expressly prohibited during the performance as is simulated sexual activity. 

Page 15



 4 

 
 
3.15 The entertainment provided shall be restricted to dancing and removal of clothes and there 

shall be no other form of sexual activity. 
3.16 The Licence Holder and any other person concerned with the management or provision of 

entertainment at the premises shall not allow the audience to throw money or otherwise give 
gratuities to the performers, except as permitted by condition 3.11 above or 3.23 below.    

3.17 Performers shall be provided with changing rooms that are located separately and apart from 
the public areas and facilities. Such changing rooms shall be fitted with security locks. 

3.18 Only performers and staff authorised by the Licence Holder shall be permitted in to the 
changing rooms. 

3.19 The contents of the House Rules for dance performances shall be agreed with the Police and 
the date indicated on those Rules. A copy of the Rules shall be deposited with 
Nottinghamshire Police and the Council. These Rules shall be adhered to and any 
amendments must be agreed by the Police. In the event of any agreed amendments being  
made, an amended copy of the House Rules will be deposited with the Police and the Council 
with such document clearly showing the date of amendment. 

3.20 Performers who are not performing shall not be in any public area in a state of undress (which 
includes the displaying of naked female breasts). 

3.21 There shall be no advertising or display outside of the premises to the general public, of 
photographs or other images displaying topless or nude dancers, or showing anything of a 
sexual nature.  

3.22 A member of staff will be available to escort performers from the premises to their own/public 
transport or taxi at the end of their working day if requested to do so. 

3.23 The Licence Holder will adhere to and enforce a “Customer Code of Conduct  which will be 
clearly displayed for all customers to see and will include the following terms: 

(a) There shall be no inappropriate touching of the dancers at any time. Customers 
may however be escorted by the hand to an appropriate area for a dance and may 
make payment in the dancers hand or garter. 

(b)  No verbal abuse will be tolerated. Any customer being abusive will be ejected from 
the premises. 

(c)  No irresponsible behaviour by customers will be allowed. Any customer engaging 
in such behaviour will be ejected from the premises. 

(d) Any customer behaving in any other unacceptable manner will be asked to leave 
the premises. 

(e) No customer shall accept from or give to any performer or member of staff any 
telephone number, business card or note.  

3.24   The Licence Holder will adhere to and enforce a “Dancers’ Code of Conduct” which will be 
clearly displayed for all performers and staff to see and will include the following terms: 

(a) Performers shall behave responsibly at all times and professionally perform 
appropriately choreographed dance routines. 

(b) Performers will not remove any items of clothing otherwise than in accordance with 
the Sexual Entertainment Venue Licence. In particular full nudity is prohibited. 

(c) No performer will accept from or give to a customer any telephone number, 
business card or note. 

The Licence Holder shall ensure that all dancers/entertainers performing at the premises 
have signed a declaration to confirm that they are aware of, have understood, and will abide 
by this Code. The Licence Holder shall retain this declaration until such time as the 
dancer/entertainer ceases to perform at the premises. 

4. Records  
4.1 A record shall be kept of anyone refused admission to the premises or refused service.  

Details contained in this record shall show:- 

  the basis for the refusal;  

 the person making the decision to refuse; and,  

 the date and time of the refusal.  
This record shall be retained at the premises for at least one year from the date of refusal, 
and shall be made available for inspection and copying by the Police and Authorised Officers 
of the Council, immediately upon request. 
 

Page 16



 5 

4.2 A bound and sequentially paginated incident/accident book shall be kept to record all 
instances of disorder, damage to property and personal injury at the premises. This book shall 
be made available for inspection and copying by the Police and Authorised Officers of the  
 
Council immediately upon request, and all such books shall be retained at the premises for at 
least 2 years from the date of the last entry. 

4.3 When the toilets have been checked for drugs use and supply, in accordance with condition 
6.5 below, a record shall be kept of the result of the checks, detailing how and when any 
illegal substance was found. The record shall be retained at the premises for at least 3 
months from the date of the check and shall be made available for inspection and copying by 
the Police immediately upon request. 

4.4 Any seizures of drugs, weapons or other property shall be recorded, together with the name 
and address of the person found with the article and details of how and where the article was 
seized. This record shall be kept in a bound and sequentially paginated book, which shall be 
retained at the Premises for at least 2 years from the date of the last entry. This record shall 
be made available for inspection and copying by the Police immediately upon request. 

4.5 A bound and sequentially paginated book, shall be kept and updated daily, containing the 
names, addresses, dates of birth, SIA registration number and hours worked of door 
supervisors employed on each day that the premises operate. This book shall be kept at the 
premises for at least 12 months from the date of the last entry and shall be made available for 
inspection and copying by the Police immediately upon request. 

5.       Notices 
5.1 Notices will be displayed at the entrance to the premises advising customers that random 

searches will be carried out and admission will be refused to customers who do not give their 
consent to being searched.  

5.2 A copy of the current House Rules will be displayed at the entrance to the premises so as to 
be clearly visible to customers as they gain admission. 

5.3 The current Customers’ Code of Conduct; Dancers’ Code of conduct; and, House Rules shall 
be displayed on the exterior and interior of the Premises at all times so as to be clearly visible. 

5.4 A copy of the current conditions attached to the sexual Entertainment Venue Licence and 
House Rules shall be exhibited at all times in or near the performers’ changing rooms so that 
they can easily be read by performers. These documents shall be protected against theft and 
defacement. 

5.5   A clear notice shall be displayed in a prominent position so that it can easily be read by 
persons entering the premises stating: 
“No persons under 21 years of age permitted.” 

6. Safety and Security: 
6.1    CCTV cameras shall be installed and maintained in the premises in accordance with Police 

recommendations, and sufficient staff shall be trained to use the system. All cameras will 
record continuously during the time the premises are open to the public. Images shall be of 
evidential quality and shall be retained for at least  31 days. Recordings shall be made 
available immediately upon request to the Police and Authorised Officers of the Council. 

6.2    At all times the premises are open to the public,all public areas shall be supervised by CCTV 
and all dance areas, private or otherwise, shall be constantly monitored by CCTV and staff 

6.3 The Licence Holder, or person nominated by him in writing to be in charge on any specified 
occasion  shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that patrons awaiting entry to the premises 
or leaving the premises do not cause annoyance or nuisance to any other person in the 
vicinity of the premises. A door supervisor shall act as a marshal to ensure that members of 
the public can freely pass by and gain access to other premises as necessary, and shall 
supervise persons awaiting entry on the pavement.  

6.4 Door staff will conduct random searches of customers prior to admission for drugs and 
weapons. Anyone refusing to be searched will be refused entry. 

6.5 The toilets at the premises shall be checked for drugs use and evidence of drug supply taking 
place at least daily during the times that the premises are open to the public. Cocaine wipes 
shall be used when carrying out the checks. Records of such checks shall be kept in 
accordance with condition 4.3. 

6.6 If drugs are found during a personal search, or whilst being used within the premises, the 
Licence Holder or Manager shall ensure, if safe and practicable, that a clear image of the 
person found in possession will be captured on CCTV. Following a risk assessment of the 
situation arising from the find, any person found using or in possession of drugs shall be 
detained if it is safe and practicable to do so, and the Police shall be called immediately. 

Page 17



 6 

6.7 Any drugs or weapons found on the premises, either during a search of any person or 
otherwise, will be confiscated and stored in a secure container prior to being handed over to 
the Police, which must be done as soon as is practicable.  

 
6.8 SIA registered door staff shall be employed at the premises, both inside and outside, at all 

times that the premises are open to the public, the number of door staff required shall be 
agreed with the Police. Appropriately trained staff shall supervise the Admissions Desk and all 
dance and entertainment areas at all times. 

6.9 The Licence Holder or person nominated by him in writing to be in charge on any specified 
occasion will conduct a risk assessment to ensure that adequate levels of security are 
maintained, in accordance with conditions 1.1 to 1.3. Security at the front door of the premises 
shall not be compromised by the need for supervisors at locations within the premises.  

6.10 The Licence Holder or person nominated by him in writing to be in charge on any specified 
occasion shall ensure that any door staff employed at the premises wear and clearly display 
their SIA registration badge at all times whilst on duty.  

6.11 The Licence Holder and their staff shall liaise and co-operate closely with Nottinghamshire 
Police in respect of any initiative in relation to drugs, weapons, or like matters. 

  7. Policies: 
7.1 The Licence Holder shall devise and agree the following policies with Nottinghamshire Police 

prior to this licence being used:- 

  A Dispersal Policy,  

  An Accident and Incident Policy 

  A Drugs Policy 

  An Admission Control Door Supervision Policy 

  An Age Admission Policy 
The date that each Policy is agreed with the Police shall be indicated on the Policy and copies 
will be lodged with the Police and the Council. The terms of each policy will be adhered to with 
any amendments being agreed to by the Police. In the event of any agreed amendments 
being made, an amended copy will be deposited with the Police and the Council, such 
document clearly showing the date of amendment. 

7.2 The Licence Holder shall ensure that all relevant staff (including SIA door staff) working at the 
premises have signed a declaration to confirm that they are aware of, have understood, and 
will abide by these Policies. The Licence Holder shall retain each declaration until such time 
as the staff member ceases to work at the premises.  

 

Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Flirtz, 26a Friary Chambers, Friar Lane, NG1 6DQ - Application for renewal and variation of a Sex Establishment licence
	APPENDIX 1 CURRENT LICENCE
	APPENDIX 2 FLIRTZ RENEWAL AND VARIATION APPLICATION 2016
	APPENDIX 3 LOCATION MAP


